1989

Velma Foote, Lucile S. Dalley, June Scott, W. Duane Burge, Shirley B. Coleman, Linda B. Saxey, Carol B. Butterfield, Louise B. Perry, and David W. Burge v. Norma S. Smith : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

Whether there is clear and convincing evidence that the deed, Exhibit 11, was altered after it was executed by the grantors and is therefore a nullity.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a trial court's determination that a certain deed, Exhibit 11, was materially altered and is therefore a nullity. The action was brought by certain of the children and grandchildren of True and Emma Scott, the grantors of the deed in question. The trial court determined applying the burden of clear and convincing evidence that the deed was materially altered.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. This was an action commenced on March 12, 1987 to reform a deed dated February 16, 1970, which was recorded on May 18, 1970, at the request of the plaintiff, Velma Foote. (Trial Exhibit #11).

2. The deed, on its face, conveyed three parcels of land.

3. The grantors to the deed were True and Emma Scott who were then husband and wife.

4. The grantees, joint tenants with full rights of survivorship, were Emma Scott and the surviving children of True and Emma. The surviving children in February, 1970, were Velma S. Foote, Lucile S. Dalley, Verlon Scott, and Norma Smith.

5. True and Emma Scott had a daughter who died before February, 1970. She was Ina S. Burge. Mrs. Burge left six children. (Record page 190, lines 18-25).

6. In February and March of 1970 True and Emma Scott also made, executed and had recorded the following other deeds:

a) On February 25, 1970 True and Emma Scott deeded 700 acres of property in Juab County, as follows: an undivided 1/6th interest to their children, Norma S. Smith, Velma S. Foote, Verlon Scott, Lucile S. Dalley, June Scott and an undivided 1/36th interest each to the children of deceased daughter, Ina S. Burge, Willard Duane

Burge, Shirley Ann Burge, Linda Marie Burge Saxey, Carol Joyce Burge, Ina Louise Burge and David William Burge as tenants in common. (Exhibit #12; Record page 209, lines 3, 7-9; page 210, lines 3-4). This deed was recorded February 27, 1970 at the request of Norma S. Smith.

b) On February 25, 1970, True and Emma Scott deeded a .043 acre parcel of property in Utah County to their daughter, Norma S. Smith as grantee. (Record page 196 line 22; Exhibit #9). This deed was recorded February 26, 1970 at the request of Norma Smith. (Exhibit #9). There was a home on this property at the time of conveyance. (Record page 220, lines 9-10).

c) On February 26, 1970, True and Emma Scott deeded a 52.298 acre parcel of property in Utah County to their son, Verlon, and his wife, Dorothy Scott, grantees, as joint tenants with full rights of survivorship. (Exhibit #10; Record page 197, lines 22-24). This deed was recorded February 26, 1970 at the request of Verlon Scott. (Exhibit #10).

d) On March 24, 1970, True and Emma Scott deeded a .535 acre parcel of property in Utah County to their daughter, June Scott, and her son, Alan Scott, grantees, as joint tenants with full rights of survivorship.

(Exhibit #2). This deed was recorded March 26, 1970 at the request of Velma Foote. (Exhibit #2). There was no home on this property at the time of conveyance. (Record page 217, lines 9-11).

e) On March 24, 1970 True and Emma Scott deeded a .535 acre parcel of property in Utah County to True and Emma Scott, grantees as joint tenants with full rights of survivorship. Exhibit #3. This deed was recorded March 26, 1970 at the request of Velma Foote. (Exhibit #3).

f) On March 24, 1970, True and Emma Scott deeded a .60 acre parcel of property in Utah County to their daughter, Lucile Dalley and Gloria B. Petersen, grantees. (Record page 189, line 1, Exhibit #4). This deed was recorded March 26, 1970 at the request of Velma Foote. Exhibit #4. There was a home on this property at the time of conveyance. (Record page 218, lines 15-17).

g) On March 24, 1970, True and Emma Scott deeded a .50 acre parcel of property to their daughter, Velma Foote, and her husband, Dell Foote, grantees, as joint tenants with full rights of survivorship. (Exhibit #5). This deed was recorded at the request of Velma Foote. (Exhibit #5). There was no home on this property at the time of conveyance. (Record page 219, lines 2-3).

h) On March 24, 1970, True and Emma Scott deeded a .50 acre parcel of property to the children of their deceased daughter Ina S. Burge as follows: Willard Duane Burge, Jr., Shirley Ann Burge, Ina Marie Burge Saxey, Carol Joyce Burge, Ina Louise Burge, and David William Burge, grantees, an undivided 1/6th interest each. (Exhibit #6). This deed was recorded March 26, 1970 at the request of Velma Foote. (Exhibit #6). There was a home on this property at the time of conveyance. (Record page 219, lines 7-9).

i) On March 24, 1970, True and Emma Scott deeded a .517 acre parcel of ground to their son, Verlon Scott, and his wife, Dorothy Scott, grantees as joint tenants with full rights of survivorship. (Record p. 195, line 12; Exhibit #7). This deed was also recorded March 26, 1970 at the request of Velma Foote. There was a home on this property at the time of conveyance. (Record page 219, lines 20-24).

j) On March 24, 1970 True and Emma Scott deeded a 20.13 acre parcel of property to True and Emma Scott, grantees as joint tenants with full rights of survivorship. (Exhibit #8). This deed was recorded March 26, 1970 at the request of Velma Foote. (Exhibit #8).

7. True Scott died April 19, 1970. (Record page 73, paragraph 2; page 110, paragraph 1).

8. After the deed, Exhibit 11, was recorded on May 18, 1970, it was sent to Emma Scott who had possession of the deed. (Record page 211). Emma Scott told her daughter Velma that all of the names were on it and that it was in joint tenancy. (Record page 211). Emma Scott died March 1, 1985. (Record page 251, line 4).

9. When True and Emma Scott's son Verlon Scott died, July 6, 1986, Verlon's wife Dorothy examined the deed. (Exhibit 11). She learned the property was then in the following childrens' names: Velma S. Foote, Lucille Dalley, June Scott, and Norma Smith. (Record page 211, lines 19-24; page 2, paragraph 7; page 3, paragraph 1; Record page 242, line 9)

10. Plaintiffs' theory at trial was that the property evidenced by the deed sought to be reformed, Exhibit 11, and certain property located in Juab County, Exhibit 12, was to have been divided equally among the children of the grantors. (See Exhibit 12). (Record page 3, paragraph 1.)

11. Defendant claims that the deed, Exhibit 11, should remain as recorded because it correctly reflects the grantors' intentions. She claims the deed was not altered. (Record page 9, paragraph 1).

12. At trial, the Honorable Boyd L. Park presiding in the Fourth Judicial District Court, found that the subject deed, Exhibit 11, was materially altered and that the alteration therefore rendered the deed a nullity. (Record page 136). The court's finding the deed was altered was based upon the court's scrutiny of the deed. (Record page 136, paragraph 7).

a) "The distance between the comma after the word 'wife' on the third line of the deed is closer than the other commas."

b) "The next two lines angle upward toward the right with the bottom of the beginning letter of the 'Velma' being slightly below the line and the final letter of the word 'Smith' on the same line being substantially above the line."

c) Finally an "s" was not added to the word "grantee" on line 6 of the warranty deed. (Record page 137).

The court's finding was also based upon "other credible testimony that the warranty deed was altered by Arnold Meham at the direction of Emma Scott after the death of True Scott ... " (Record, page 137).

Judgment was entered on 23 September, 1988, and the defendants filed their notice of appeal on 21 October, 1988.

Plaintiffs' motion to dismiss because of untimely filing of the docketing statement was not granted. On January 19, 1989, appellant moved and both parties stipulated to an extension of time for appellant to file her brief. The date for filing appellant's brief was set for February 18, 1989. Counsel stipulated the brief could be mailed on Friday, February 24, 1989.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant relies on the findings of the court and the record to establish there was not clear and convincing evidence to find this deed, Exhibit 11, was materially altered. The court found incongruities on the face of the deed and determined it was apparent on the face of the deed it had been altered. This court can examine the same deed and draw whatever inferences it thinks appropriate. The trial court found as clear and convincing evidence the following: the letter "s" was omitted after the word "grantee". Some of the typed lines were not parallel with the lines on the form deed. There was a comma which was too close or closer to a word than other commas, and lastly, the court relied on other "credible evidence". The other credible evidence would have to be the testimony of plaintiff, Velma Foote, which the defendant claims

to have been absolutely rebutted or which the defendant claims to be in and of itself inconsistent, and not clear and convincing, and on a most critical point, obviously incorrect.

In the course of the trial, Exhibits 2 through 12 were offered and received. Exhibits 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 were executed on 24 March, 1970. Exhibits 9 and 12 were executed on 25 February, 1970. Exhibit 10 was executed on 26 February, 1970. Exhibit 11 was executed on 16 February, 1970. All of these deeds were prepared by Arnold Mecham and transferred property from True and Emma Scott to certain of their children and grandchildren. All of the deeds which transferred property to more than one grantee omitted the "s" after "grantee". Almost all of the deeds appear to have type which is not parallel to the lines on the form deed. There is left alone then the issue of the comma on Exhibit 11 after the word "wife".

The defendant finally claims the plaintiff, Velma Foote's, testimony was not consistent and a critical part of her testimony is clearly wrong.

The inconsistencies are she claimed not to have seen the deed after she gave instruction for the names to be added to it, yet it is clear it was she who recorded it. She also claims to have recorded or caused to be recorded the deed,

Exhibit 11, in her mother's name only. An examination of Exhibit 11 shows she is clearly wrong. Exhibit 11 is a certified copy of the recorded deed. If it were recorded as Mrs. Foote testified it would show only the name of her mother. It does not. It contains the names of the other grantees.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

IF A PARTY IS TO PROVE A RECORDED DEED HAS BEEN ALTERED HE MUST PROVE THE ALTERATION BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE

It is a well settled rule that one seeking to assert the invalidity of a deed must carry the heavy burden of clear and convincing evidence. This position was stated by the court in Controlled Receivables, Inc. v. Harman, 413 P. 2d 807 (Utah 1966). There the court said at page 809:

Of prime importance is the rule that one who asserts the invalidity of a deed must so prove by clear and convincing evidence. The recording of a deed raises a presumption of delivery, which presumption is entitled to great and controlling weight and which can only be overcome by clear and convincing evidence.

See also the case of Northcrest, Inc. v. Walker Bank and Trust Co., 248 P. 2d 692 (Utah 1952) where the court said at page 694:

It is true that such acknowledgment and recordation give

rise to a presumption of the genuineness and the due execution and delivery of the deed and is prima facie evidence thereof. *Thomas v. Peterson*, 213 Cal. 672, 3 P.2d 306, and see Sec. 104-48-12, U.C.A. 1943. This presumption should not be regarded lightly but should be given great weight. The authorities generally hold that the effect of such certificate of acknowledgment will not be overthrown upon a mere preponderance of the evidence, but it must be clear and convincing.

Emphasis added.

See also Gold Oil Land Development Corp. v. Davis et al., 611 P.2d 711, at page 712 (Utah 1980) where the court said:

Defendants place reliance upon the fact that the deed in question was duly acknowledged and recorded. With respect thereto we agree with these propositions advocated by them: that when a deed is duly acknowledged and recorded, there arise the presumptions that it was duly executed and that there was a valid delivery thereof; and further, that those presumptions can only be overcome by clear and convincing evidence.

The trial court found this deed, Exhibit 11, to have been altered and therefore invalid. The same burden should apply to an alteration of a deed as where a mistake is alleged to have been made in a deed.

Utah law is clear that a party claiming a mistake in an instrument is required to prove or establish the "mistake by clear and convincing proof that clinches what might be otherwise only probable to the mind." Greener v. Greener, 212 P. 2d 194, 204 (Utah 1949). Briggs v. Liddell, 699 P. 2d 700, 772 (Utah 1985). In Greener v. Greener, the court explained at

page 205:

But for a matter to be clear and convincing to a particular mind it must at least have reached the point where there remains no serious or substantial doubt as to the correctness of the conclusion. A mind which was of the opinion that it was convinced and yet which entertained, not a slight, but a reasonable doubt as to the correctness of its conclusion, would seem to be in a state of confusion.

The trial court properly concluded in this case the burden to be applied was clear and convincing. (Record, page 137, Conclusions of Law). The trial court erred in finding a material alteration because there is no clear and convincing evidence that the deed was altered.

The trial court has identified specific facts upon which it relied in its finding that there is or was clear and convincing evidence of a material alteration of the deed, Exhibit 11.

The court's decision, Record page 136, is to the effect that on February 16, 1970, True Scott transferred certain property to his wife, Emma. On April 19, 1970, True Scott died. (Record, page 136). Emma Scott intended to add the names of her living children to the deed, including the children of her late daughter. At the direction of Emma Scott, Arnold Mecham altered the deed by adding the names of Velma S. Foote, Lucille S. Dalley, June Scott, Verlon Scott, and Norma

Smith. The court concluded the deed was materially altered and therefore a nullity. (Record, page 137).

The court placed great weight and significance upon the appearance or face of Exhibit 11. The theory of the plaintiffs becomes significant here. Their argument is or was that the Provo properties (Exhibit 11) should have been divided in the same proportions as the Juab County (Levan) properties (Exhibit 12), the underlying inference being that all of True and Emma's property was to have been divided equally. The inference the two deeds comprised the property owned by True and Emma Scott is soundly rebutted by the fact there were not two deeds but there were eleven.

The problem with the assumption that all property was to have been divided equally leads to the evidence which shows the trial court erred when it found the alteration was apparent on the face of the deed. All of the deeds except Exhibit 10 were apparently drawn by the same person, Mr. Mecham at Provo Abstract. For example, the following deeds, the other deeds signed about the same period of time, are all notarized by the same notary, Charlotte R. Mecham:

Exhibits 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 11 and 12.

Of much more significance however, the court found that Exhibit 11 was altered because the word "grantee" did not have

an "s" or that the "s" was not filled in. Neither did Exhibits 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, or 12 have the "s" filled in after "grantee". Exhibit 9 is the only deed with a single grantee.

The trial court found as evidence Exhibit 11 was altered in that the typed names or grantees were not parallel to the lines on the deed.

The same irregularities can be observed on the following deeds:

Exhibit 2

The first line (grantors) does not run parallel with the line on the deed. Neither does the second.

Exhibit 3

The first typed line is not parallel with the line on the deed, neither is the fourth typewritten line parallel with the line on the deed.

Exhibit 4

The first typed line is not parallel with the line on the deed, neither is the second.

Exhibit 5

The second line angles down from left to right. The fourth line angles up from left to right.

Exhibit 6

Most lines on Exhibit 6 are parallel. However, an examination of the fifth line down shows it is slightly elevated on the left, and perhaps line 3 angles slightly up from left to right.

Exhibit 7

The first line on the left side is slightly higher. The third line slants down from left to right.

Exhibit 8

The first line appears to angle down from left to right. The fourth line angles up from left to right.

Exhibit 9

The eighth line angles down from left to right.

Exhibit 10

The first line, second part, appears to be slightly elevated. The second and third line slant down from left to right, and the fourth line from left to right slants up.

It appears from the face of the deeds the only "irregularity" if it is, in fact, an irregularity which does not as clearly appear on all of the deeds is the position of the comma after the word "wife" on Exhibit 11. Because the original deed was not offered and because the court was only examining a certified copy this observation means very little and is certainly not, in and of itself, significant, let alone clear and convincing.

It ought to be clear from examining the deeds that there is not anything different on the face of Exhibit 11 than appears on the faces of the other deeds. The question then becomes, is there other clear and convincing evidence that this deed was altered? Velma Foote's testimony must be examined to

answer this question. Apparently, this was the other credible evidence to which the court referred. It would have to have come from Mrs. Foote or Mrs. Smith because they were the only witnesses to the execution of the deed.

The examination of Velma Foote commences on page 180 of the Record and ends on page 241. (See also pages 260-262, and pages 291-301). It is significant as a whole because there are many inconsistencies. The inconsistencies are significant because in order for plaintiffs to prevail there must be evidence which is clear and convincing the deed was altered. Her testimony is attached as an appendix to the brief for the readers' quick reference. (Record pages 180 through 241, pages 260-262, and pages 291-301).

The significant point begins about page 198 where the references to Exhibit 11 begins. We learn at page 200 from Mrs. Foote the deed was drafted by Mecham for her, signed on 16 February, 1970, and recorded in May of 1970. At page 203 she claims the deed was recorded and only had her mother's name on it. (Page 203 lines 20-22). (See also Record page 293, lines 2-7). After her father died, Mrs. Foote and her mother, Emma Scott, went to the courthouse to talk to Mr. Mecham. (Page 205). At page 206, lines 4 through 6 she testified, in effect, that she gave the names to Mr. Mecham to add to the deed and

"that is the last I knew about that." (Page 208).

At page 210 she is asked at line 16:

Q: ... after you directed Mr. Mecham to draft this particular deed when you did next see the deed?

A: I never seen the deed until my brother died in 1986.

It is clear she was referring to Exhibit 11, the subject deed. She was again asked at line 25, page 210.

Q: So you never saw the deed until 1986.

A: Right.

Q: And why did not receive a copy of the deed after it was recorded?

A: It was sent to my mother and my mother said that all of our names were on it ...

At line 8 on page 211 she was asked if she ever had any indication from 1970 to 1986 that the deed was recorded in some names different from her instructions to Mr. Mecham. Her answer was "No, I never knew anything about it." She then explained that her sister-in-law discovered the grantees listed on deed in 1986.

It becomes apparent that Mrs. Foote understood the difference between the tenancy in common relationship v. the joint tenancy relationship. (See also page 228 and 229). This is important because she would have seen any irregularity on the deed when she delivered it to the County Recorder. She

claims it only had here mother's name on it. However, Exhibit 11 is a document which, on its face, appears to have only been recorded once. It simply is not possible to record the document with one name on it and have the recorded document reflect otherwise.

There are also inconsistencies in Mrs. Foote's testimony as pointed out in the cross examination at page 232, line 10.

Q: That deed was signed in February of 1970 and that then your father died and then some more names were added to the deed.

A: Right.

At line 25.

Witness: After they signed it I just took it up and had it recorded.

At page 233:

Q: The deed was recorded in May?

A: Yes.

Q: So you held it from (sic) a short period of time from February when it was signed until May was it was recorded?

A: No it was recorded in to (sic) my mother's name from my father to my mother in February ...

At this point counsel for the defendant, knowing the deed showed clearly that it was not recorded in February, undertook, at line 3 page 234, to lay the foundation and to define the terms being used, specifically, the word "record". (See

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