1989

Velma Foote, Lucille S. Dalley, June Scott, W.
Duane Burge, Shirley B. Coleman, Linda B. Saxey,
Carol B. Butterfield, Louise B. Perry, and David W.
Burge v. Norma S. Smith : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The appellant's brief fails to assist this court in several respects. First of all, it fails to supply the Court with the appropriate standard of review, which is that the findings of the court below will not be disturbed absent a showing that this court will review those findings with considerable indulgence due to the advantaged position of the trial court and will not disturb those findings unless the evidence clearly preponderates against them, or

the court has mistaken or misapplied the law applicable thereto. Since the appellant has not argued that the trial court misapplied law, the only contentions raised by the appellant involve issues of fact and evidence. Accordingly, unless the appellant meets the significant burden of demonstrating that the evidence presented clearly preponderates against the findings below, the judgment must stand.

The appellant, instead of addressing whether or not the evidence presented preponderates against the judgment and findings, merely argues that it was not sufficient to support the findings of the court. The appellant simply attempts to attack the credibility of the evidence presented, but makes no showing of a preponderance of evidence which is clearly against the findings. The appellant fails to meet her burdens under the appropriate standard of review, and her appeal must fail. The appropriate standard of review will be established in point one of this brief.

The appellant's brief endeavors to draw the attention of this Court to issues regarding the sufficiency of evidence in support of the findings below. The appellant criticises the findings as being unsupported. The court, in making its findings, relied upon two sources of evidence, (1) the testimony presented at trial, and (2) the face of the document itself. The appellant criticizes the testimony of Velma Foote as being inconsistent, which as we shall see is unfounded.

The appellant ignores other testimony presented at trial which the court may have relied upon in reaching the conclusion the the Provo Deed was materially altered following its execution. The findings state that the court "having heard the evidence and reviewed the exhibits introduced into evidence" made its findings of fact and conclusions of law. The court did not say, "having relied exclusively upon the testimony of Velma Foote and reviewed the exhibits introduced into evidence" the court made findings and conclusions. Insofar as the appellant's arguments do not address other relevant testimony aside from that of Velma Foote, the appellant fails to demonstrate that there was no competent and sufficient testimony upon which its finding could be made. Nevertheless, the appellant

spends much time dwelling upon the credibility of the testimony of Velma Foote and the respondents must reply to those allegations. Velma Foote testified that the Provo Deed was in the name of her mother, Emma Scott only when the deed was executed, but that the other names were added later. Velma Foote was in the best possible position to understand the documents and testify as to their contents. Seven of ten deeds in question in this case were recorded at her request, and she was a central figure in the events surrounding the execution of the deeds. (T. 32-55) This suit was brought by three sisters, Velma Foote, June Scott and Lucille Dalley in order to make the deeds conform to the desires of their parents, even though they all would lose property should the case prove successful. These concerns will occupy the second point of the respondents' brief.

The third point of the respondents' brief will address the document itself. There is ample evidence on the face of the Provo Deed itself that alterations were made after the execution of the document. Together with the testimony presented it amply supports the courts findings.

POINT I

THIS APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED DUE TO THE APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO MARSHALL EVIDENCE FOR THIS COURT SUFFICIENT TO JUSTIFY THE RELIEF SOUGHT UNDER THE APPROPRIATE STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellant bears important duties in structuring the issues before this court. The appellant has failed to meet one of these duties. The appellant should provide the court with guidance as to the appropriate standard of review. The respondent will therefore undertake that responsibility.

The present case reflects the plaintiffs' successful attempt to reform a deed. Such proceedings are actions in equity. In Battistone v. American Land and Development Co., 607 P.2d 837 (Utah 1980), the court held that "an attempt to reform a deed is a proceeding in equity." (Battistone at 839) This court must review the transcript and record below under the standard appropriate to cases in equity.

In Pagano v. Walker, 539 P.2d 452 (Utah 1975), this court stated the standard of review appropriate for cases of equity.

[B]ecause of the verity accorded written instruments, its effect can only be overcome by clear and convincing evidence.

In determining whether the evidence meets this standard, in equity cases such as this, the court may review the facts. However, it has long been established and reiterated by this court in numerous cases that due to the advantaged position of the trial court we will review its findings and judgments with considerable indulgence, and will not disagree with and upset them unless the evidence clearly preponderates against them, or the court has mistaken the law applicable thereto.

Pagano at 454, emphasis added. This position was restated more recently in Jensen v. Brown, 639 P.2d 150 (Utah 1981) and Tanner v. Baadsgaard, 612 P.2d 345 (Utah 1980). In fact, as was noted in Pagano, the cases outlining this position are quite numerous, too numerous to be cited in a brief of restricted length.

This court then has two duties. The first is to determine if, upon examination of the record and transcripts below, the evidence clearly preponderates against the findings of the court. The second is to determine if the court below misapplied the law. The appellant has raised no issue regarding the applicable law, including the standard of appellate review, or the trial court's misapplication of the law.

When reviewing the record and evidence presented at trial, the Court should remember that this inquiry is not one of first impression, the standard of appellate review requires this court to give considerable deference to the privileged position of the trial court. Accordingly, unless the appellant marshalls all relevant evidence, as is her burden (see Harline v. Campbell, 728 P.2d 980 (Utah 1986) at 982)) and presents argument that demonstrates clearly that the evidence preponderated against the findings, the appeal must fail.

In reviewing the level of requisite proof, the court should note that the trial court understood that the evidence presented to support plaintiff's case had to be both clear and convincing. (T. 10) The appellant has provided numerous definitions of "clear and convincing evidence" in her brief. One in particular proves insightful and deserving of the attention of this court.

[F]or a matter to be clear and convincing to a particular mind it must have reached the point where there remains no serious or substantial doubt as to the correctness of the conclusion. A mind which was of the opinion that it was convinced and yet which entertained, not a slight, but a reasonable doubt as to the correctness of its conclusion, would seem to be in a state of confusion.

Appellant's Brief at 12, citing Greener v. Greener, 212 P.2d 194 (Utah 1949). In order for an appellate court to adequately assess the weight of the facts based solely upon a dead record or transcript, it needs to search for whether or not the record addresses the weight assigned to a particular fact by the trier of fact. In this case, the appellant wishes to convince this court that the trier of fact did not, and could not, find the evidence supporting its findings clear and convincing.

There is no evidence indicating a reasonable doubt in the mind of the trial court regarding the fact that the evidence supporting the reformation of the deed was clear and convincing. Without such an indication of a doubtful mental state of the trial judge, this court must rely upon the representations of the attorneys regarding the weight of the evidence below.

The positions of the parties, rather than drawing upon objective evidence and arguing it in an organized fashion, become positions of complete subjectivity. Each attempts to impeach the witnesses of the other anew, to demonstrate why the court shouldn't have relied on this witness versus that witness or to draw upon irrelevant and immaterial issues and dwell upon them. In the final analysis, these activities justify the court's search the record for evidence of a doubtful mind. Absent such evidence, the

indulgences of this court require it to give way to the privileged position of the trier of fact below and to uphold its findings. Accordingly, the appellant's suggestion that "[t]his court can examine the same deed and draw whatever conclusions it wishes" is incongruent with the established standard of review in cases of equity, and should not be undertaken by this court. (Appellant's Brief at 8)

POINT II

APPELLANT'S ALLEGATIONS CONCERNING THE RELIABILITY OF VELMA FOOTE'S TESTIMONY ARE UNFOUNDED

The appellant has based a substantial portion of her brief upon the notion that Velma Foote's testimony was not credible and was inconsistent. The respondents must reply to those allegations.

The appellant confuses the notion of disputed fact with that of inconsistent testimony. The appellant states the "inconsistencies" complained of:

The inconsistencies are she claimed not to have seen the deed after she gave instruction for the names to be added to it, yet it is clear it was she who recorded it.

(Appellant's brief at 9). The first sentence of the alleged inconsistency quoted above states that (1) Velma didn't see the deed after giving a list of names to Mr. Mecham to be added to the deed, (2) that it was she who recorded the deed. There is no evidence in the record or the transcript of the trial that Velma Foote actually recorded the Provo Deed, and indeed the appellant cites no evidence taken from the record in support of the above quote. An examination of the Provo Deed reveals that it was "recorded at the request of Velma S. Foote", but the handwritten "Velma S. Foote" is not in Velma's writing and was probably placed there by someone at the recorder's office or possibly by Mr. Mecham. Mr. Mecham could have walked into the recorder's office and said "Velma S. Smith wants this deed recorded" and listed "Velma S. Smith" on the deed pursuant to that request. There is

no evidence that Velma was actually present at the time the deed was recorded. Her testimony that she never saw the deed after she instructed Mr. Mecham to record it is not therefore inconsistent, and is not contradicted by other testimony.

The appellant further alleges inconsistencies:

She also claims to have recorded or caused to be recorded the deed, Exhibit 11, in her mother's name only. An examination of Exhibit 11 shows she is clearly wrong. Exhibit 11 is a certified copy of the recorded deed. If it were recorded as Mrs. Foote testified it would show only the name of her mother. It does not. It contains the names of the other grantees.

(Appellant's Brief at 9-10). The appellant's complaint is of credible testimony, not of an inconsistency; the court found Velma's testimony credible. This entire law suit revolves around the issue of whether or not the Provo Deed was altered subsequent to its execution, and that was based upon the document itself and credible testimony offered at trial concerning its execution and its subsequent recording. This infers that there were "two" Provo Deeds, (1) the deed as executed, and (2) the deed as recorded. Velma Foote's testimony is perfectly consistent with the deed as executed, but not with the deed as recorded. Accordingly, Velma's testimony is internally consistent. Her testimony simply differs with the deed as recorded and the court found that testimony credible. It was given in the successful and proper attempt to prove that the deed was materially altered following, not only its execution, but the death of one of the grantors, namely True Scott (T. 54), and was therefore invalid.

To further substantiate the credibility of Velma's testimony, the respondents draw the court's attention to pages 65 through 67 of the transcript. Counsel for the Appellant questioned and examined Velma Foote concerning the various properties owned by member of the family as represented in the deeds involved in the trial below. Velma was able on cross-examination to recall which lots belonged to who and whether or not there were homes on the lots, as this brief excerpt demonstrates:

Q All right Number 6?

A 6 is the Burge family.

Q Okay

A There is a home on it.

Q All right put a box around Number 6?

A Yes.

Q All right Number 7 if you can find it, what is 7?

A This is the property that Verlon had and that was the end of the True Scott lot. There was a home on it.

Q Is that just on the other side of the Burge?

A Yes.

Q Okay that is Number 7?

A Yes.

Q Have a box around there. And there is a home there?

A Right.

(T. at 67). There is ample evidence that Velma was a reliable and credible witness. Her knowledge of the properties in question was solid. The trial court had the opportunity to observe her testify and found her testimony, when coupled with the documents in evidence, credible.

The only other testimony presented at trial that was contrary to that of Velma Foote was presented by the defendant, Norma Smith. Norma testified that she was positive that the Provo Deed contained the names of grantees exactly as it appears on the recorded copy. (T. 126) An examination of her testimony reveals a defective memory, which could tend to make her testimony less credible in the eyes of the court:

The Witness: As I remember it and I don't remember what day it was and we filled out the one deed.

Q Which deed?

A I don't remember which one.

Q Okay.

A I have tried to but I can't remember.

(T. at 128-129). Aside from an inability to recall which dates and which documents were in question, Norma Smith had trouble recalling other details of the deeds:

Q Who was present [when exhibit 12 was executed and signed]?

A Like I said before my mother and my father Velma and myself.

Q No one else?

A No one else.

Q I would like to show you exhibit No. 12 (indicating) and I would like you to read me the date as to when his particular deed was signed by your parents?

A 25th day of February.

Q Not the 16th day of February?

A That is right.

Q Who witnessed that particular signature?

A Norma Smith and Velma written Velma Scott.

* * *

Q Is that Velma Scott or is that Verlon?

A Velma was the one that went with me when we both had then made out.

Q What does the signature say?

A I thought it was Velma, V-E-L-M-A.

Q I would just like the court at some point to take notice of whose signature that would be.

The Court: Well Velma at that time was known as Velma Foote Wasn't she?

Mr. Dunn: Yes she was ...

(T. 131-133). This Court may examine Exhibit 12 attached to Appellant's brief and will likewise notice that it was signed not by Velma Foote, but by Verlon Scott. Apparently he was at the meeting in question when the document was executed and signed, calling into doubt the recollection of Norma Smith.

Finally, the testimony of Velma Foote provides another piece of information which, when considered in connection with the pioneer background of the parties, adds additional credence to her testimony and further bolsters the courts regard for her powers of recollection and credibility. Explaining why Emma Scott's name appeared alone on the Provo Deed, Velma testifies:

Q So originally these properties then if I understand your testimony so we can make sure it is clear were deeded from your father to himself and his wife Emma Scott?

A Yes.

Q Okay.

A And at the same time we did one to my mother my dad leaving it to my mother.

Q Solely to your mother?

A Yes because she wanted to own some ground and know what it felt like to own something.

(T. at 50). Given the rural and pioneer heritage of this family, a heritage in which property was owned and pass down from father to son so long as male progeny held out, for Emma Scott to own some ground and to understand what that felt like is significant. Ownership of land was a badge of distinction for Emma Scott. This explains why the intent of True and Emma Scott was to grant all of their property to their children and the children of their deceased daughter Ira Burge, yet Emma retained sole ownership of the property represented by the Provo Deed.

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